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NORTHEAST BUILDING
The Northeast Building is a five-room house located on the northeast side of the peak of the South Acropolis between 364 and 370 MASL. It consists of five interconnected rooms (A300, A400, A1700, A2300, and A2100) and courtyard spaces (A1800; A500). Four rooms (A300, A400, A1700, A2300) are arranged in a regular row northwest-southeast between parallel spine walls along the contour, while A1800 and A2100 are located on the terrace above (368-370 MASL). The building has an eastern aspect on the 364 m contour, so although the actual orientation is almost exactly northwest-southeast, for the purpose of description here, the central axis of communication within the building is taken to be north-south, with the spine walls forming the eastern and western walls of the rooms. 
     One entrance to the building was from the east where a passage running along the side of A2100 leads up to a stair and courtyard in A1800. The main and most direct entrance, however, was from the north end of the building where a street (A700; A1000) leads directly southeast along the spine wall into a courtyard (A500) and vestibule (A300). It is also possible that there was an access from the hilltop on the west, leading into the corridor that connected the courtyard in A1800 and the stairway into A2300; but the architecture in A200 and A2400 is too poorly preserved to be certain of an entrance at this juncture.
     Trench numbers by and large correspond to individual rooms or architectural units. Wall lines, normally visible before excavation or after removal of top soil, facilitated the use of architecturally defined spaces as excavation units (trenches). An exception is in A400, where about 1.5 m of the southern/southeastern part of the room was excavated as part of the adjacent trench A1700 (A1710, A1716-A1718) because the top extant course of wall A1704, separating rooms A1700 and A400, was not visible before excavation, and time did not permit the completion the excavation of A400 in the 2002 season.
A2100

Architecture and Features

A 2100 was a kitchen. The room is irregular in shape with the wall on the west conforming to sharply uneven contours of the bedrock. The east wall and northeast corner of the room are no longer extant, though a bedding along the east suggests the position of the east wall. The extent of the preserved floor surface, the positions of the post supports, and the bedding of the east wall together indicate an internal length of 7.20 m (on axis), and a width of 5.70 m on the east, narrowing to a maximum of 3.70 m on the west. The floor is hard-packed gray phyllite clay, embedded with gravel and occupation debris. 
     Preserved to six courses of dolomite boulders (ca. 1.77 m high), the west wall (A2104) adheres to the uneven bedrock, with courses fitted in between V-shaped crevices in the rock face. There is some modification of the bedrock foundations, which protrude into the space of the room, but no effort was expended to cut the outcrop to be even with the face of the wall. A worked ledge in the outcrop juts out into the northwest corner of the room, providing support for a single rectangular block of sideropetra (ca. 0.60 x 0.30)—a bench, seat, or work platform—made level on the east by a schist slab. 
     The south wall, preserved 1.0 m high and 5.0 m in length, abuts an outcrop of bedrock, forming the back of a side-hearth (parestia) in the southwest corner of the room. The hearth is constructed of two parallel upright rectangular blocks of sideropetra, splaying (ca. 0.40 m) on the north. Shallow cut outcrops of bedrock form a backing for each of the hearth slabs. About 0.70-0.80 m to the north of the hearth’s opening and perpendicular to the bedrock on the north side of the hearth is a narrow slab of schist which was probably a curb stone. This indicates that the fire-place area for the hearth may have extended out beyond the upright slabs, forming a combined open curbed hearth and side-hearth. Blackened ashy sediment and burned-red clay were found within and outside this area between the curb stone and the side-hearth.
     Two post supports are centered about two meters apart on the east-west axis of the room: both are roughly worked sideropetra blocks. The eastern most base sits directly on the floor surface, while the one on the west has a schist plinth. The doorjambs and full width of the doorway (1.10 m) and threshold are preserved in the north wall. The sideropetra threshold blocks show considerable tread wear. Two sockets (door pivots), carved side by side into the bedrock bedding on the south side of the west jamb indicate the position of a door opening into the room The presence of two pivots is evidence of the rebuilding of the doorway or lintel and the need to reposition the door.
Stratigraphy

The floor surface was made of hard-packed gray phyllite clay on bedrock, with embedded fakes of schist, and pieces of charcoal, bone, shell, and pottery. The matrix of the occupation-debris level (A2110) was a mixture of roofing material, ash, and burned sediment containing charcoal. Though evidence of burning was found across the floor surface, it was most apparent on the west side of the room —either it was better preserved or perhaps the fire was more intense. The phyllite clay of the floor and roofing material varied in color from yellow-green to gray, shading to red and black in areas evidently in contact with intense heat, which was normally indicated by burned organic material.

     A layer of roofing material (A2108) sealed the occupation deposit across most of the space of the room, although in the western area, artifacts and burned organic debris intruded into this level. Locus 2107 consists of the upper stratum of roofing clay mixed with large stones, evidently a continuation of the wall collapse above. Superimposed on the roofing layer is dense stone debris (A2103), deeper in the west than in the east, evidently consisting of stones fallen into the room from the surrounding walls. 
     The roofing material (A2107-2108) was imbedded with pieces of charcoal and lenses of burned sediments. The wood recovered from samples of burned debris consists primarily of olive (Olea europaea), with few examples of heather (Erica sp.), mockprivet/buckthorn (Phillyrea/Rhamnus), and cypress (Cupressus sempervirens). The large amount olive wood concentrated in the main stratum of roofing material (2108) belongs to the main structural elements of the roof (beams, cross beams and slats), while heather and buckthorn indicate smaller shrub-like maquis used as packing over the wooden frame to support the clay of the roof.

Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Plants from the floor deposit include abundant grape pips and olive pits; modest quantities of grains, including both wheat and barley; modest quantities of pulse, including chickpea, and several as yet unidentified seeds.
Pottery
Objects

Artifacts were found on or slightly above the floor surface, concentrated in the west half of the room, especially around the hearth, work platform, and post support. The assemblage consists of an iron knife (03-1062), whetstone (03-1039), and group of cobble-stone hand tools. Represented types are small hand tools with pecked abraded ends and one abraded facet (03-1035, 03-1038) and small implements with pecked and/or abraded margins and naturally smooth, polished or abraded facets (03-1036, 03-1052). Two pumice cobbles show evidence of abrasion: 08-1024 has numerous grooves, probably scars resulting from honing knife blades, while 08-1025 has wide evenly abraded facets, as if rubbed regularly across a regular flat surface, such as a quern.
     Other finds are two leaf-shaped arrowheads (03-1104; 03-1063); a fragment of lead slag (03-1041); and a schist pot lid (07-1100); and the bottom of a large terracotta weight (03-1184). 
A2100 Object Catalogue
Metal

03-1041 (A2108.05) Lead fragment. Max. L. 7.5; max. W. 3.4; max. Th. 0.6; Wt. 60 g. Flat, irregularly-shaped with a pellet on one surface; flux ripple on one side.

03-1062 (A2110.07) Iron knife blade fragment. Max. L. 5.0; max. W. 2.2; max. Th. 0.8; Wt. 5 g. One iron rivet preserved; two other possible rivets; triangular section, curved edge. 

03-1063 (A2110.07) Iron leaf-shaped arrowhead. L. 4.0; W. 1.2; max. Th. 0.4; Wt. 2 g. Elliptical section. Tang with square section. 

03-1104 (A2110.05) Iron leaf-shaped arrowhead fragment. Max. L. 3.4; max. Th. 0.4; Wt. 0 g. Elliptical section. Part of square tang preserved. 

Terracotta

03-1184 (A2108.05) Terracotta pyramidal weight fragment. Max. L. 16; max. W. 10; max. H. 6.5; diam. of hole 2.6; Wt. 2200 g. Coarse friable reddish-brown clay (2.5YR 4/6) with large phyllite, limestone and quartz inclusions. Bottom half preserved. Single suspension hole. 

Stone

03-1035 (A2110.01) Cobble. Max. L. 10.9; max. W. 8.9; max. Th. 4.9; Wt. 680 g. Quartzite. Oval and somewhat flat. Pecked and abraded ends. Abraded facet. Minor pecking on the top surface. Blitzer Type 1/7. 

03-1036 (A2110.01) Pebble. Max. L. 6.2; max. W. 5.8; max. Th. 3.7; Wt. 170 g. Marble. Three abraded facets. Pecked and abraded margins. Blitzer Type 3. 

03-1038 (A2110.02) Cobble. Max. L. 6.7; max. W. 4.8; max. Th. 3.9; Wt. 110 g. Basalt. Smoothed surfaces. Pecked ends. Blitzer Type 1. 

03-1039 (A2110.01) Whetstone. Max. L. 14.5; max. W. 12.5; max. Th. 5.2; Wt. 2800 g. Quartzite. Teardrop-shaped. Pecked and worked margins. One abraded face with groove and depression, and traces of corroded iron residue. Other face is also partially abraded, with traces of corroded iron residue. Blitzer Type 5.

03-1052 (A2111.02) Cobble. Max. L. 7.8; max. W. 5.7; max. Th. 4.2; Wt. 235 g. Dark diorite or amphibolite. Four smoothed facets. Pecked and abraded margins. One pecked end. Blitzer Type 3. 

07-1100 (A2199.01) Lid. Max. Th. 4.1; max. Diam. 36.0; Wt. 11150 g. Schist. Round schist lid. One pecked surface. Roughly trimmed into a disc. Blitzer Type 15. 

08-1024 (A2110.05) Cobble. Max. L. 9.6; max. p.L. 9; max. W. 8.3; max. Th. 8.0; Wt. 110 g.

Pumice. Six facets with multiple grooves. 

08-1025 (A2110.07) Cobble. Max. p.L. 7.1; max. p.W. 5.3; max. p.Th. 3.1; Wt. 22 g.

Pumice. Four abraded facets. 

A1800

Architecture and Features
A1800 is a courtyard, contiguous to and north of A2100. The space is defined by the north wall and doorway of A2100 (A1802); on the northeast by the south wall of A2300; a stair and landing on the east (A1804); and on the west, a cut bedrock socle (A204) that extends at a right angle north of the west side of the doorway in A1802. 
     The space is 5.50 m wide (north-south) on the west, narrowing with the line of wall A2301 on the east. The bedrock was cut to form a level surface 1.5 m wide in front of the doorway into A2100, sloping down to two curved risers and a landing with pavers on the east. While it is possible that the original terrain accommodated a steep ramp or shallow ramp-like stairway in the space between the extant risers and the level bedrock, it is more likely that wall A2301 retained leveling fill that supported a built stairway leading up to the ground level of A2100. An indication of the original height of the ground level is an outcrop of bedrock, protruding south of wall A2301 and west of the risers (A1804); the top of the outcrop is 0.75-0.80 m. higher than the surrounding slope, and precisely the elevation of the cut bedrock surface on the west. Reconstructed in this way, the occupation surface supported by the fill would have extended about 2 m further east of the worked bedrock surface, creating 3.5 m wide flat area in between A2100 and A2300. The projected height of wall A2301 on the north, and the four or five risers on the east, would have retained fill and accommodated the one-meter difference in elevation from west to east. 
     Though not well preserved, a partially paved corridor, retained by the spine wall leads south of the stair and landing (A1804). Below the landing, a break in the spine wall might indicate the location of a stepped access from a street running outside along the eastern edge of the building.
     In the northeast corner of A1800, the space opens onto a corridor—formed by the cut bedrock socle on the west (A204) and the end of wall A2301 on the northeast—leading to a stepped entrance into A2300. 
Stratigraphy
The area is extremely eroded with little surviving cultural deposition. Topsoil and slope wash debris overlay the bedrock in the west, and a brown silt layer with occupation debris in the landing on the east. Thus it is likely that almost nothing of the original use or stratigraphy of the space survives. The extreme erosion is, however, typical of exterior spaces at Azoria, especially on outer-facing slopes of the South Acropolis. Given that the space is transitional, and that there is a pivot for the door in A2100 leading out onto A1800, it is likely that the latter was open to the air, serving as a courtyard connecting A2100 with A2300 and the rest of the Northeast Building. 
Faunal Remains
Plant Remains
Pottery
Objects

 There was only one object recovered from A1800, a single small hand tool (03-1071), found lying directly on the occupation surface at the base of the stair on the southern edge of the landing.
A1800 Object Catalogue
03-1071 (A1803.01) Cobble. L. 8.6; W. 6.9; Th. 5.2; Wt. 410 g. Conglomerate.

Worn and pecked margins. Worked impression on facet. Blitzer Type 1.
A2300

Architecture and Features

A2300 consists of a built stairway leading to a cut-bedrock ramp and hallway. The courtyard in A1800 leads into a corridor running north-south between A200 and A2300. The corridor, essentially an extension of the courtyard, has a level bedrock floor, and the west side is a continuation of the modified bedrock socle terminating in two large dressed boulders at its northern end (A204). Near the end of the corridor on the east is a doorway and stair marked by a boulder on the south, and the southwest corner of A1700 on the north. The stair leads east across a landing to a set of three steps that descend onto a bedrock cut ramp. 
     The entire passage—steps, landing, and ramp—are bordered on the south by the curved wall A2301 which was evidently fitted into a cut-bedrock foundation, and forms the retaining wall for the courtyard in A1800 to the south. The ramp leads down to a hallway, running north-south, with a floor of hard-packed clay and bedrock, a low boulder bench on the west side, and bordered by the spine wall on the east. The hallway extends north to a doorway in the southeast corner of A1700. The built elements of the doorway no longer survive, but the bedrock socle of the south wall of A1700 (A1707) terminates in a cutting that clearly marks the position of the west door jamb. Furthermore, a displaced door pivot stone was found lying in the hallway south of the doorway. 
     A drain, made of two single slabs of sideropetra, penetrates the spine wall at the southern end of the hallway at the base of the ramp. Even though the entire space of A2300 was certainly roofed, given the presence of roofing material throughout, the space would have required drainage. The position of wall 2301 and the adjacent ramp, on the slope below the open courtyard in A1800, suggests that rain water spilling down from the courtyard would invariably follow the contour of the bedrock seeping from behind wall 2301 out onto the ramp and into the hallway. Rain water also could have drained directly into the hallway from the doorway and stair.
     There is a small triangular-shaped room or closet, with a stone-built bin, lying between the stairway (A2304) and the north wall of A2300 (A1707). The room is immediately southwest of the hallway, and accessible from it by a single built step. The stepped entrance into the room is now partially blocked by a displaced bolder. The boulder blocking the step has clearly shifted from its original position against the bedrock landing of the stair A2304. If repositioned, the block of stone would have originally sat in line with the outcrop of bedrock south of the bin. The boulder and bedrock would have formed a bench ca. 0.50 m. high, about 1.70-1.80 m. long and about 0.60--.070 deep, running along the side of the room beneath the landing.
     While the bin may have been used for storage, the bench reconstructed along the southwest side of the area could have functioned as a work platform, perhaps for using the large saddle quern (03-1127) that was found lying across the top of the bin. Except for the triangular room, the space of A2300 evidently functioned principally as a transition from the courtyard in A1800 and the storeroom in A1700.
Stratigraphy
Dense stone debris, representing wall collapse, was exposed under the topsoil across the entire excavated area of A2300. A2300 originally had a roof, though roofing material was concentrated in the hallway, closet, and ramp, extending over the lowest riser of the stairs. The floor is hard-packed gray phyllite clay. The absence of roofing clay across the upper steps and landing is mostly likely a condition of preservation rather than a structural detail—the stair and landing are on a much higher level (very near the level of top soil) than the surrounding spaces, and were much more vulnerable to erosion.
     A thick layer of roofing clay (A2311) was exposed across the area of the triangular room, extending over the bench and bin, and collecting on the south side of wall A1712.

     Roofing material was consistently burned; discolored red from exposure to heat, and mixed with charcoal and burned sediments. The intensity of burning, especially on the ramp (A2306) and in the hallway (A2308), is consistent with contexts containing combustible foods or materials, such those found in kitchens and storerooms. 
     Substantial amounts of animal bones and pottery were found across the floor surfaces of the ramp (A2306) and hallway (A2309), looking as if they were intentionally dumped into the space from neighboring rooms. The material represents dining debris collected, but not yet cleaned out before the abandonment of the building.
Faunal Remains
Plant Remains
Pottery
Objects

Non-pottery objects are few. A strip of sheet bronze (03-1105), a pyramidal loom weight (03-1094), and a modified antler (07-1092) were found in the occupation debris on the floor of the hallway. A decorative spindle whorl (03-1102) and quern (03-1127) were recovered from the level of roofing clay above the bin in the triangular room. The quern is a large saddle-type. Nearly double the length of the standard flat quern at Azoria, it approximates the surface work-area and use patterns of the large saddle quern in E100, and the quern fragment in A300.
A2300 Object Catalogue
Metal
03-1105 (A2309.03) Bronze strip fragment. Max. L. 6.5; max. W. 1.6; max. Th. 0.2. Strip folded over or crimped in part. 

Bone

07-1092 (A2308.02; 1/4") Modified bone, 1 fragment. Cut horn/antler.
Terracotta

03-1094 (A2309.03) Loom weight. Max. W. 3.7; min. W. 1.7; max. Th. 3.4; min. Th. 1.5; max. H. 5.0; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 50 g. Pyramidal loom weight. Medium-coarse clay (2.5YR 6/8) with tiny phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Dark reddish-brown slip. Somewhat beveled, short and squat, sharply tapered with a rounded top. 

03-1102 (A2311.02) Spindle whorl. Th. 2.3; max. Diam. 3.7; diam. of hole 0.7; Wt. 30 g. Cylindrical spindle whorl. Medium-coarse dark gray clay (10YR 5/1) with phyllite, quartzite, and tiny mica inclusions. Incised or stamped chevrons enclosed by single bands around the circumference. Stamped design on the top and bottom faces of two concentric bands and the outermost register with alternating Y's and dots. 

Stone

03-1127 (A2311.03) Quern. Max. L. 48.0; max. W. 30.2; max. Th. 6.0; Wt. 17800 g.

Sandstone. Roughly worked edges. Pecked and abraded concave top surface. Bottom worked flat. Blitzer Type 17. 

A1700

Architecture and Features

The features and assemblage of A1700 indicate that the room was used for storage. It is a rectangular room (6.40 m. long; ca. 5.30 m wide), accessible from the northern end of the hallway in A2300 through a doorway indicated by the cut-bedrock jamb at the east end of wall A1707.  Except for the door jamb, the doorway is not well preserved, but a displaced door pivot found lying in the hallway of A2300 probably belongs to a door separating A2300 from A1700. A second doorway (A1704), in the western end of the room’s north wall, leads into A400. This doorway has well built jambs and threshold, and like the door in the south wall, is off of the central axis of the room.
     The floor is made of hard-packed clay and cut bedrock. Modified bedrock appears as a socle and floor in the south, and along the west wall, especially in the north. Along the room’s eroded eastern edge, the bedrock drops off steeply and the floor surface, now no longer extant, was originally supported by cobble fill (A1715), and retained by the spine wall running along the entire length of the building on the east. The room’s west wall is made of cut bedrock foundations and boulder-sized stones. Archaic cobble fill (A1706) was used as packing behind the wall. The uppermost extant courses of the west wall and doorjamb were rather dramatically displaced—the wall line has tipped at a precarious angle to the east, the upper courses supported only by dense and deep stone tumble (A1703) that filled the space of the room. The condition is indication of displacement during the original 5th century destruction of the site, or the post-Hellenistic earthquake damage. 

    A single sideropetra post support is preserved in the middle of the room. Two blocks of stone, one sideropetra and the other schist, were found on the floor near the south and west walls, and two other sideropetra blocks, probably displaced, were lying east and west of the post support. The stones are most likely pithos stands, used to support the pithoi found broken across the floor of the room. An outcrop of bedrock along the west wall, cut flat, though slightly above the level of the floor surface, probably also served as a pithos stand. Two schist pavers in the northwest corner of the room, just inside the doorway are likely to have been pot stands.
Stratigraphy
A deep layer of roofing material and occupation debris was found across the area of the floor surface (A1712, A1719).  A1712 is a deep layer of clay, some collapsed wall stones, and dense burned debris in the southern half of the room, primarily in the southwest corner where a large pithos deposit was exposed. The concentration of burning in and around the collapsed pithoi—black ashy sediment, burned phyllite roofing material, and charred pithos sherds—might be an indication of particularly good preservation in the southwest corner of the room (protected from erosion), or the combustible contents of the pithoi themeselves. A1709 consists of roofing material and occupation debris across the central and northern parts of the room. Fragments of pithoi while concentrated in the southwest corner of the room, extend across the entire floor surface. The bulk of the wall collapse (A1703, A1711) occurred soon after the room’s burnt destruction, with wall stones penetrating the roofing clay.  
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains
Pottery
Objects
Finds from the floor of the room consist of an iron arrowhead (03-1032); a silver dress pin (03-1064) an iron spike fragment (03-1066); a spindle whorl (03-1060); and an LM IIIC terracotta tiara fragment of a goddess with upraised arms (03-1200). The iron arrowhead is severely corroded but it appears to have a solid tang and square-sided head. It is probably akin to Snodgrass’s Type’s B and C from the North Cemetery at Knossos (Snodgrass 1996, pp. 584-585; cf. Snodgrass 1964, pp. 154-155; Robinson 1941, pp. 392-397; Day, Coulson, and Gesell 1986, pl. 80: j). The small finds are few and not immediately definitive or suggestive of a pattern of activity.
     The silver pin (03-1064) was found on the floor at the base of the north wall; its morphology, consisting of a tapered knob, thick disk, and three globes separated by moldings (rings or bobbins), tends toward a Peloponnesian or Sicilian design. The Azoria example is most likely a Peloponnesian import, fitting Jacobsthal’s (1956, pp. 23-25) Orientalizing 2 silver pin type, which he says is found in Sicily and Crete, but represents a Peloponnesian import or imitation in outlying Dorian districts (see also Boardman and Hayes 1966, p. 157-161, fig. 73 for the Peloponnesian type at Tocra; cf. Dawkins 1929, p. 200, pl. 86).
     An iron spike (03-1030) and pyramidal loom weight (03-1026) were recovered from the eroded floor and cobble-fill level on the east side of the room behind the spine wall. A Byzantine coin, ca. A.D. 1050, was found at the top of a deep wall-tumble layer in the northeast corner of the room, evidently part of the last phase of wall collapse and alleviation of the slope. 
      The metamorphic cobble (03-1004) was found in topsoil, though it is typical of small hand tools found in the kitchen in A2300. 
A1700 Object Catalogue
Metal

03-1030 (A1715.01) Iron nail/spike fragment. Max. L. 3.3;  max. W. 0.8; max. Th. 0.6;  Wt. 2 g. Nail shank fragment; square in section. 

03-1032 (A1712.12) Iron arrowhead. Max. L. 4.7; max. W. 0.7; max. Th. 0.6; Wt. 1 g. Tang looks round in section as preserved. 

03-1040 (A1711.01) Bronze coin. Max. Diam. 3.0, Wt. 10 g. Ανώνυμος φόλλις, ΑΕ, 9,84 γρ., 29 χλ., 6.00 Εμ. : +ΕΜΜΑΝΟVHΛ. Απόδοση κατά μέτωπον του Χριστού στον τύπο του Αντιφωνητού. Φέρει φωτοστέφανο με σταυρό, με μία στιγμή σε κάθε κεραία, χιτώνα και ιμάτιο. Με το δεξί ευλογεί, ενώ με το αριστερό κρατάει κλειστό διάλιθο ευαγγέλιο.

Στο πεδίο ΙC XC

Οπ.: Στα διάχωρα του διάλιθου σταυρού : 
ΙC XC






NI KA
Χρονολογία κοπής : 1042 (;)-περίπου 1050 μ.Χ.

Βιβλιογραφικές αναφορές :  Βλ. DOC III, 2, Class C, C.1 κ.ε.

DOC : Catalogue of the Byzantine Coins in the Dumbarton Oaks Collection and in the Whittemore Collection, I-V, Washington D.C., 1966-1999. 

03-1064 (A1719.01) Silver pin. Max. L. 12.4; max. Th. 0.5; Diam. of head 2.0; Th. of head 0.2 .     Squat tapered central projection on the top; a thick flat disk with fascia. The shank is plain; head decoration consists of a bobbin and three rings, which form the transition to the main element: two sets of five plain rings separated by three plain globes. The central globe is the largest of the three and the lower set of rings is more compressed than the upper set. Estimated original length 13.4cm
03-1066 (A1719.02) Iron nail/spike fragment. Max. p.L. 5.1; max. p.Th. 0.9; Wt. 4 g.

Nail shank fragment; square in section. 

Terracotta

03-1026 (A1715.01) Pyramidal loom weight. Max. W. 3.6; max. Th. 3.7; H. 6.1; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 70 g. Medium-coarse to coarse clay (5YR 5/6) with phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Dull brown slip or wash. Somewhat beveled, medium height, and moderately tapered, with a slightly squared-off top. 

03-1060 (A1712.19) Lentoid spindle whorl fragment. H. 2.5; diam. 4.9; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 40 g. Dark pinkish-brown clay (2.5YR 4/6) with phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Traces of dark slip preserved all over. Most of one face broken.

03-1200 (A1712.14) Figurine fragment. Max. L. 3.7;  max. W. 2.7;  max. Th. 1.4;  Wt. 10 g. Tiara fragment of a goddess with upraised arms. Fine buff clay (7.5YR 8/6); gray at core. Kavousi LM IIIC fabric, Type X or XI. LM IIIC.
Stone

03-1004 (A1701.01) Cobble. L. 7.2; W. 6.2; Th. 4.8; Wt. 220 g. Hard, fine-grained metamorphic.

Five smooth or polished facets. Extremely fine-grained gray with purplish inclusions. Blitzer Type 3. 
A400

Architecture and Features
A400 is has dimensions (W. 5 m; L. 6.30 m) and orientation almost identical to those of A1700. A door in the northwest corner of A1700 has a stepped threshold that leads down into A400. Another doorway, in the middle of the room’s north wall (A301) connects A400 with A300. The west wall (A402/A1702) makes extensive use of bedrock for the foundations in the middle and northern segments; the bedrock is cut roughly in line with the wall face which consists almost exclusively of small field stones, rather than boulders. Bedrock is also extensively incorporated into the northeast corner of the room. The room’s east wall is indicated only by the line of the spine wall which is preserved at a level below that of the room’s floor.
     A400 has no recognizable built features. Two flat sideropetra blocks in the west half of the room, and a third preserved in the middle of the east side, are probably post supports. 
Stratigraphy
The room’s stratigraphic sequence was identical to that of A1700, though the amount of roofing clay and occupation debris was much shallower in A400. A deep layer of wall collapse (A407-A408; A1710; A1717) covered a stratum of roofing material and occupation debris (A411; A1718), which rests on a clay and cut-bedrock floor. As in A1700, the eastern edge of the floor was found eroded where the upper courses of the spine wall had fallen away beneath the level of the floor surface. In this eastern zone, the floor and wall packing consist of the cobble fill (A413-A414; A1716). 
     Patches of charcoal and burned roofing clay, as well as pieces of pottery, bone, shell and pumice, were found across the floor surface, but on the whole, occupation debris was much less dense than that in A1700, A2300, and A2100. The neck of a pithos, evidently fallen from a jar in A1700, and two agrimi horn cores were found on the floor (A1718) near the south wall (A1704) of the room. The small group of objects from the floor is hardly definitive of the room’s function, but there is a cluster of implements related to cutting: the two whetstones and the pumice cobble were used for sharpening knife blades, while the small pebble was evidently a cutting or scraping tool. 
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects
Five objects come from the floor of the room: a shell bead (02-0082); a pebble-sized phyllite tool (02-0147); a sandstone whetstone (02-0192); a large quartzite whetstone (02-0225); and a pumice cobble (08-1012), evidently used for abrading and polishing blades. The pebble (02-0147) has been broken on both sides of one end to form two edges, perhaps for chopping, and cutting, but certainly for scraping.
     From the eroded floor surface on the eastern edge of the room there is a sheep/goat astragalus (02-0294). 

     From the layer of wall collapse there is a terracotta loom weight (02-0008); a dolomite cobble hand tool (02-0122); a marble hand tool (02-0190); and a schist pebble (02-0203); and from the topsoil layer there are two elongated schist cobble hand tools (02-0128; 02-0129) smoothed and abraded facets suggesting that they might have been burnishing tools. From the cobble fill layer on the eastern edge of the room behind the spine wall, there is a dark diorite cobble (02-0135), typical of small handstones from kitchen assemblages.
A400 Object Catalogue
Terracotta

02-0008 (A0407.03) Pyramidal loom weight. Max. W. 3.8; min. W. 1.0; max. Th. 3.6; min. Th. 1.8; max. H. 5.3; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 65 g. Coarse brownish-tan clay (2.5YR 5/8) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. Red slip. Angular, very short and squat, and sharply tapered, with rounded top.
03-1001 (A0425.01) Stopper/lid. Max. Th. 1.8; max. Diam. 3.9; Wt. 250 g. Coarse clay (2.5YR 5/8) fired gray at core, with phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Modified sherd; roughly disc shaped with a roughly trimmed edge.
Other

02-0082 (A0411.02) Shell bead. Max. L. 1.0; max. W. 0.9; max. Th. 0.85; diam. hole in apex 0.2.

02-0294 (A0412.02) Astragalus. Max. L. 2.5; min. L. 2.3; max. W. 1.2; max. Th. 1.2. Left astragalus, sheep/goat. Flattened on medial and lateral faces.
Stone

02-0122 (A0408.01) Cobble. Max. L. 6.7; max. W. 6.0; max. Th. 4.5; Wt. 300 g.

Pinkish grey dolomite (?) cobble. Slight pecking all over surface; one pecked facet, one battered facet. Blitzer Type 4 or 6.

02-0128 (A0404.01) Cobble. Max. L. 17.5; max. p. W. 5.4; max. Th. 2.9; Wt. 410 g.

Schist. Oblong; abraded facets; pecked and battered ends. Blitzer Type 1 or Type 8? 

02-0129 (A0404.01) Cobble. Max. L. 15; max. W. 4.4; max. Th. 3.0; Wt. 278 g.

Schist. Triangular section. Pecked ends; abraded facets. Blitzer Type 1 or Type 8? 

02-0135 (A0414.03) Cobble. Max. L. 10.1; max. W. 9.6; max. Th. 4.3. Dark diorite.

Pecked and abraded margins. Pecked and abraded face. Blitzer Type 3. 

02-0147 (A0411.01) Pebble. Max. p.L. 5.2; max. p.W. 1.8; max. p.Th. 0.9; Wt. 10 g.

Phyllite. Oblong with an oval section. Two faces on one end broken (percussion flaked) to form a working or chopping edge. Surface is water worn smooth to a rounded end. Narrow, rounded end has a pecked depression. One edge on one side is clearly abraded smooth from scraping.
02-0190 (A0407.03) Cobble. Max. p.L. 4.8; max. p.W. 3.2; max. p.Th. 3.2; Wt. 87 g.

Marble. Possible abraded facet. Possible pecked end. Possible Blitzer Type 1. 

02-0192 (A0411.02) Cobble. Max. p.L. 9.0; max. p.W. 4.8; max. p.Th. 2.4; Wt. 160 g.

Sandstone. One worn and abraded face. Possible whetstone. 

02-0203 (A0408.01) Pebble. Max. p.L. 7.0; max. p.W. 1.3; max. p.Th. 1.1; Wt. 14 g.

Schist. Fragment of worked schist. Oval section. Broken face and end. Abraded smooth to a rounded end with visible grooves or wear marks on tip. 

02-0225 (A0411.03) Cobble. Max. L. 30.0; max. W. 26.0; max. Th. 11.4; Wt. 12,200 g.

Quartzite whetstone. Worked bottom and sides. Pecked and abraded margins. Top abraded and concave; groove-like depression. In the groove is corroded iron residue. In the area of the central concavity, there are semi-circular abrasion marks. Abrasion is consistent with the polish on whetstones. Blitzer Type 5.
08-1012 (A0411.04) Cobble, 2 fragments. Max. p. L. 9.6; max. p. W. 9.7; max. p. Th. 4.5, Wt. 100 g. Pumice. Abraded groves and facets.
A300

Architecture and Features

A300 is a small room at the northern entrance to the Northeast Building. Given its size and location, immediately accessible from the exterior courtyard, the room was likely to have been a vestibule. It is the same width (c. 5.30 m) as adjacent rooms on the contour (A1700 and A400)—shaped by the east and west spine walls—but only half the length on the axis (3.0 m). Its doorway on the north is in the center of the wall (A303), and axially aligned with the south doorway (A301) leading into A400. The north doorway, probably the main entrance into the building, has a pivot stone positioned next to the west jamb on the south side, indicating the existence of a door opening into the room from exterior space in A500. As in the other rooms on the terrace (A1700 and A400), modified bedrock is evident in the west wall, in both the north and south segments, and in the northwest corner, where bedrock was shaped for the socle of wall A303. Like the other rooms on the terrace, the floor is made of phyllite clay and worked bedrock.
Stratigraphy
A300 was found to have been extensively excavated before our investigation of the site in 2002. Although Boyd does not record work in this area in her 1901 report, the room is sufficiently close to her trench on the peak, that exposed walls here might have attracted some unsystematic exploratory excavation either during or after her visit to the site. 

     Removal of the surface vegetation exposed nearly the full extant height of north, south and west walls (A301-A303). The earlier excavation evidently had cleaned out most of the slope wash and wall collapse, leaving about 20-30 cm of deposition on the floor surface—remnants of roofing material and occupation debris (A306, A308). That the floor surface had not been reached or significantly disturbed by this earlier excavation was confirmed by the presence of occupation debris, charcoal, and evidence of burning—discolored phyllite clay—within the roofing material and on the floor surface itself.  On the eastern edge of the room between the spine wall and the bedrock, eroded cobble-fill (A309, A311) was exposed down to the level of the top extant course of the spine wall.
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects

Only one object, a fragment of an iron knife blade (02-0037), was recovered from the floor deposit. 
     The other objects, a bronze tablet or slab fragment (02-0040), a loom weight (02-0060), and two quern fragments (02-0177; 02-0226) were recovered from the cobble fill level eroding from beneath the floor along the west side of the spine wall on the east. While it is possible that they represent objects having slipped down into the floor packing from the eroded floor, it is more likely that they belong to pre-6th century buildings, mixed into the fill during the construction of the Northeast Building. 

A300 Object Catalogue
Metal

02-0037 (A0308.01) Iron knife blade fragment. Max. p.L. 6.2; min. W. 1.5; max. p.W. 1.9; min. Th. 0.1; max. p.Th. 0.7; Wt. 15 g. Corroded fragment of a blade with triangular section. Cutting edge is curved. Two possible rivets. 

02-0040 (A0309.01) Bronze slab/tablet fragment. Max. p.L. 3.5; max. p.W. 3.5; max. p.Th. 0.4; Wt. 24 g. Slab of bronze with two finished edges and two broken edges. Possible third finished edge, suggesting a rectangular shape. One surface has numerous short and shallow grooves in random directions—impressions or voids left from a mold during casting.
Terracotta

02-0060 (A0309.02) Loom weight. Max. Th. 4.1; max. diam. 7.1; diam. of hole 1.2; Wt. 175 g. Teardrop-shaped loom weight. Pinkish-buff clay (7.5YR 8/6) with phyllite and quartz inclusions; buff slip. Haggis-Mook fabric type X/XI (LM IIIC). Teardrop-shaped with a lentoid cross-section, with a single suspension hole on tapered point. Broken at the level of suspension hole. 

02-0465 (A0309.01) Stopper/lid. Max. Th. 2.0; max. Diam. 4.9, Wt. 51 g. Modified sherd. Coarse reddish-brown clay (2.5YR 6/6) with phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Disc shaped. Edge is roughly trimmed. 

Stone

02-0177 (A0311.01) Quern fragment. Max. p.L. 8.9; max. p.W. 10.4; max. p.Th. 4.2; Wt. 490 g.

Beachrock/conglomerate. Convex or rounded bottom. Pecked and abraded flat top.Blitzer Type 17. 

02-0226 (A0311.01) Saddle quern fragment. Max. L. 40.0; max. W. 24.5; max. Th. 11.0; Wt. 18000 g. Quartzite. Worked flat bottom. Pecked and abraded top surface. Concave long section. Width is flat. Blitzer Type 17. 

A500, A700, A1000
Architecture and Features
The space of trenches A500, A700, and A1000 is an exterior space bordered by a rise in the bedrock on the west and the spine wall on the east. It extends 12 m north-northwest of the doorway into A300. The space between the bedrock and the spine wall is a passage about 2 m wide, widening to 3.5 m in front of the doorway into A300. The bedrock on the west has been modified to accommodate the passage—it was cut back to conform to the direction of the spine wall. A worked protrusion of bedrock on the west side of the doorway into A300 and a single step up to the threshold of the doorway marks the position of the original ground surface. The passage (A700; A1000) appears to be a street or corridor, widening into a courtyard (A500) in front of A300.
     The only extant feature is a small built bin (A509) (W. 1.0; L. 1.50) located above the passage, on the northwestern edge of the courtyard. It is bordered by a low wall on the east and modified bedrock on the west. 
Stratigraphy
Unfortunately because of erosion, almost nothing of the original surface of the street and courtyard survive—indeed the topsoil level (A501, A502-503; A701; A1001) across the terrace, exposed on initial surface cleaning, is roughly the level of the original ground surface. A rise in the bedrock, however, in the southwest corner of A500 (A504), just to the west of the entrance into A300, had a localized deposit of burned sediment and bone, and some pottery. 

     Subsurface levels (A702/A1002; A505-A506) consist of remnants of the eroded packing and cobble fill layer sliding out to the east-northeast over the top extant course of the spine wall. At the deepest level excavated (A508; A704/A1003) the cobble fill is better preserved and seems to be in situ, having been contained by the spine wall. The bin formed by wall A509 on the west side of the courtyard contained a shallow deposit of occupation debris (A703) consisting of bone, pottery and pumice fragments, including several fragments of a pithos
     The erosive character of the area is indicative of exterior spaces at Azoria, especially where surfaces are not protected by roofing material and tumble layers; in these instances, surfaces are weakly consolidated or no longer extant. In this case, erosion was perhaps exacerbated by the collapse of the spine wall, which is preserved to only one course—its foundation—which, as is the case for all the rooms along the terrace, is some 0.50-1.0 m. lower than then the ancient floor or ground surface level. 
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects
Few objects were recovered from the eroded street and courtyard, and there are no material patterns suggesting a specific use of the area: a pyramidal loom weight (02-0005) and bronze rivet (02-0042) were found in the area of the courtyard; and at the northern end of the street, a terracotta spindle whorl (02-0023), loom weight (02-0095), and schist pot lid (02-0121). A pumice cobble, evidently used for abrading metal blades, was found in the bin (08-1017).
A500, A700, A1000 Object Catalogue

Metal

02-0042 (A0503.01) Bronze rivet. Max. L. 1.8; max. W. 0.5; min. W. 0.2; Wt. 1 g. Small strip of sheet metal rolled into a short, thin shaft. One end is rolled more loosely to create a head. Similar to 02-0229 and 02-0307.

Terracotta

02-0005 (A0501.03) Pyramidal loom weight. Max. W. 3.6; min. W. 1.6; max. Th. 3.6; min. Th. 1.3; max. H. 6.4; diam. of hole 0.7; Wt. 75 g. Medium-coarse orange clay (5YR 5/8) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. Traces of black slip. Slightly beveled, tall, moderately tapered, with a pointed to rounded top. 

02-0023 (A1002.01) Spindle whorl; three quarters preserved. Max. H. 1.4; max. Diam. 2.5; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 5 g. Globular to disk-shaped spindle whorl. Coarse orange clay (5YR 6/8) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. 
02-0095 (A1001.01) Loom weight? Modified sherd. Max. L. 4.4; max. W. 3.5; max. Th. 1.6; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 20 g. Roughly oval reused sherd with hole. Fine pinkish-buff clay (5YR 6/6) with quartz and granodiorite inclusions.
Stone

08-1017 (A0703.01) Pumice cobble. Max. p.L. 6.9; max. p.W. 5.9; max. p.Th. 3.3; Wt. 26 g. Spherical with abraded facets and two bisecting abraded grooves. 

02-0121 (A1002.02) Schist lid. Max. L. 9.6; max. W. 9.3; max. Th. 1.7; Wt. 270 g. Edges worked to form a disk. One side roughly worked; the other side worked smooth to act as a resting surface and fit flush against a vessel rim. Blitzer Type 15. 

History and Function of the Northeast Building
The Northeast Building is the best preserved and most completely excavated example of domestic space so far recovered at Azoria. Though the character and distribution of artifacts in some contexts suggest post-de facto deposition, the preservation of architecture, permanent features and associated assemblages, permit the assignation of room functions. 

     The building’s foundation date is suggested by the terminus post quem of the cobble-fill deposits, which appear as packing behind spine walls and under extant floor surfaces. Late 7th century pottery in the cobble fill suggests a date near 600 for the construction of the Northeast Building. Floors are made of clay and shaved bedrock, and are evidently reused and continuously cleaned, resurfaced and maintained for the life of the building, without regular superimposition of definable surfaces. Architectural phases within rooms might be evinced by different construction methods—changes in the fabric of wall segments indicate repairs, modifications and renovations—and details such as the cutting of a secondary door pivot in A2100. That said, we infer that the form and organization of rooms remained fairly static for the life of the building. Evidence for the early 5th-century destruction is recovered throughout the building, with burning most obvious in food processing (A2100, A2300) and storage (A1700, A2300) areas.
     The building was entered from the northwest, via a street (A1000; A700) and courtyard (A500). A step from the courtyard led up to the entrance to A300, which given its size and direct access from outside the building, probably served as a vestibule, mediating communication with inner rooms. 
     A400, directly accessible from the vestibule, has no features or range of artifacts suggesting a definite function for the space. The whetstones and pumice cobble found there suggest the use of metal knives or other tools—an iron knife fragment was recovered in the adjoining room A300. The stone tools are implements common in kitchens in both domestic and civic contexts, but given the lack of food processing equipment or cooking features, such as hearths or benches, significant food production is unlikely. The small phyllite pebble tool (02-0147) is unusual and probably used for scraping, working, or finishing soft material such as cloth or leather. Another small phyllite implement (02-0203), from the wall-collapse layer, may have also functioned as a light scraper or burnisher. A400 could have served multiple purposes, as a general living space or as the main hall of the house.

   The adjoining room, A1700, is accessible from A400 through an off-center doorway near the southwest corner. The presence of pithoi and pithos stands indicates the room’s function as a storeroom. Off-center doorways are common in storerooms on the site (e.g., D700, D1000, B400, B700, B3200), especially between storerooms and halls. Another characteristic of storerooms from the site is the evidence of intensive fire (ash, charcoal, burnt roofing and floor clay), which is prevalent throughout A1700, suggesting the presence of combustible materials and containers.

     A hallway leads south of A1700, to the ramp and stair (A2300) ascending to the courtyard (A1800) and kitchen (A2100) in the southernmost area of the house. The doorway between the hallway and storeroom originally had a wooden door. The triangular room situated off of the hallway could have been used for storage, but the bench and quern suggest food processing activities. The space of A2300 evidently functioned primarily as a transition between the storeroom and hall on the lower level and the courtyard and kitchen above. This transitional space creates a kind of back entrance or private access to the main rooms of the house.

     A2100 is clearly a kitchen. The side hearth, work platform, and tool and pottery assemblages indicate food processing activities. The poor preservation of the adjacent courtyard in A1800 precludes assigning a specific function, but its location right next to the kitchen is a suitable place for exterior food processing and perhaps other domestic activities. Enclosed by walls A1802 on the south, A2301 on the northeast, and A204 on the east, the courtyard space was clearly an interior courtyard, suggesting privacy and controlled access from the corridor on the west side of A1700 and A2300, and from the stair and landing on the east.
     The locations of door pivots (and therefore wooden doors) in the house are interesting. One is located at the entrance to the vestibule (A300), the main entrance to the house. Another in A2300, restricted access to the storeroom (A1700) and hall (A400) from the courtyard (A1800) and kitchen (A2300); and a third protects the kitchen (A2100) from the interior courtyard (A1800). Closeable doors are thus positioned to protect interior spaces (A2100 and A300, A400, A1700) from the elements, while restricting access from exterior and transitional spaces (A500, A1800, A2300).
